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G. W. Kenner, 1922-1978 

WITH the tragic death of Professor 
G. W. Kenner at the early age of 55 
we have lost a most distinguished 
organic chemist, and the leading 
authority on peptide and protein 
synthesis. 

George Wallace Kenner was born 
in Sheffield in 1922, of parents who 
were both chemists; his father, James 
Kenner, F.R.S., became Professor of 
Technological Chemistry in Manchester " 
in 1928 and George spent most of his -8 
boyhood there attending the Grammar~ 
School. Although he was educated and ::1 

excelled on the classical side at school,£ 
the pull of the family profession was ::! 
obviously strong for he turned to ~ 
chemistry when he entered University u_ 
in 1939. First in Manchester and then ~ 
in Cam bridge he displayed prodigious ~ 
talents for science, still recalled by his ~ 
contemporaries. Possibly because of~ 
the breadth of his education, his early Cl 
interests in chemistry covered an un­
usually wide span and continued to do 
so for the rest of his career. 

His first research, in Manchester 
with Professor (now Lord) Todd, was 
on nucleotide synthesis and this, 
together with the synthesis of nucleo­
tide co-enzymes, continued when the 
group moved to Cambridge in 1944. 
The structure, chemistry, and total 
synthesis of biologically important 
compounds was to remain Kenner's 
consuming research interest. 

In 1957, as possibly the brightest of 
Todd's galaxy of young Cambridge 
stars, he came to Liverpool to the 
Heath Harrison Chair of Organic 
Chemistry, in succession to a select 
band of organic chemists: Sir Robert 
Robinson ( 1915- 20), Sir Ian Heilbron 
1920-33), and Alexander Robertson 
(1933-57). He found a department 
which, though well-known as a centre 
for classical natural product research, 
was rather run down and was very 
deficient in modern equipment. Sheer 
ability and enthusiasm gained him the 
support of the staff and with them he 
quickly built up an impressively equip­
ped modern department. Almost im­
mediately he started to plan the 
splendid Robert Robinson Laboratories 

which, occupied in 1961, are still in the 
forefront of modern chemistry build­
ings and now provide a permanent 
monument to his life and work. Work­
ing in them nearly twenty years later, 
one can still sense the explosive energy 
at the origin of this particular part of 
the universe. 

He showed vision and magnanimity 
in building up the department, in 
creating the right atmosphere for good 
research, and in the staff he appointed. 
Particularly imaginative was his invita­
tion to Alan Battersby to a new Second 
Chair of Organic Chemistry in 1962, 
one of the first such appointments in 
the country. Their combined talents 
contributed greatly to organic chemistry 
and established the department as an 
international research centre which, in 
the twenty-one years of Kenner's 
leadership, expanded beyond re­
cognition. 

During this time he also played an 
important part in undergraduate teach­
ing and in University affairs. While he 
served skilfully on many major boards 
and committees, he was not a com­
mittee man. He trusted more to the 
benign dictatorship of departmental 
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heads and provided a splendid example 
of that system at its best. He became 
steadily less tolerant of recent demo­
cratic trends in Universities and the 
associated bureaucracy; his Royal 
Society Research Professorship, which 
was the first ever held in Liverpool, 
brought a welcome relief from many 
administrative chores. 

He was deeply dedicated to his work 
and expected much of his associates; 
indeed he was fond of equating 
academic freedom with the freedom to 
work still harder! Sadly, the standards 
he demanded of himself were often un­
attainable and he sometimes suffered, 
as perfectionists must. He always said 
and did exactly what he thought right, 
regardless of personal considerations 
and expediency. He was, nevertheless, a 
splendid colleague, charming and un­
failingly courteous, lively and forceful, 
and there was rarely a dull moment in 
his company! He had a superb com­
mand of English, spoken and written, 
and his early classical training often 
erupted with flair, never more pun­
gently than when dealing with sloppi­
ness of thought or action, from 
whatever source. Even away from the 
laboratory George did not do things by 
halves, and he gained immense pleasure 
from sailing, hill walking, and driving, 
buying and selling fast motor cars and 
motor-bikes. 

His scientific originality and judge­
ment were widely respected and his 
services we re constantly in demand by 
industrial, academic and professional 
organisations. He was a much valued 
industrial consultant and a champion 
of genuine collaboration between 
academic and industrial research, for 
which he greatly admired the Swiss. 
His extensive and important scientific 
work in Liverpool, especially in the 
fields of porphyrin and protein syn­
thesis, culminated in the present 
herculean task of total synthesis of a 
protein closely related to the natural 
enzyme lysozyme, with the aim of 
shedding light on the mechanism of 
lysozyme action. His synthetic techni­
ques and criteria of purity were those 
of the rigorous organic chemist since 
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he emphatically rejected the view that 
standards could be relaxed when the 
molecules became large and complex. 
The linear sequence of Liverpool 
lysozyme's 129 amino acids, fully 
protected, has been constructed and the 
final, though demanding, phase of the 
work is concerned with removal of the 
protecting groups. Although he will 
not see the conclusion of this pioneer­
ing work, he had already brought new 
scientific standards to the art of peptide 
synthesis and provided a firm founda­
tion on which others can, and un­
doubtedly will, build in the future. 

This work had brought him most 
honours and distinctions available to 
a British chemist. He was awarded the 
Meldola and Corday-Morgan Medals, 
gave the Tilden, Simonsen, and Pedler 
Lectures of the Chemical Society, and 
the Bakerian Lecture of the Royal 
Society. This last, Towards Synthesis 
of Proteins (Proc. R. Soc. A 1977, 353, 
441), provides a fascinating account of 
the strategy and achievements of the 
lysozyme project. 

In spite of the constant demands 
upon him he always found time to help 
with the countless problems brought to 
him. He had an impressive memory for 
all who passed through the department 
and he followed their subsequent 
careers with genuine interest. Recent 
tragic events have shown just how 
many people respected and revered 
him, and are now left, with his wife 
and daughters, to mourn this splendid 
man. C. W. Rees 

M. V. Keldysh 
MsTISLAV VSEVOLODOVICH KELDYSH, 
former President of the Academy of 
Sciences of the USSR, died on 24 June 
1978. 

Keldysh was born in Riga in 1911. 
He graduated from the Faculty of 
Physics and Mathematics in Moscow 
State University in 1931, and then went 
to the Zhukovskii Central Aero­
dynamics Institute, where he worked 
on mathematical aerodynamics, includ­
ing the theory of unstable wing move­
ments and flutter. 

Although Keldysh was later to be 
acknowledged as having played a 
founding role in the establishment of 
post-war Soviet technology-computer 
mathematics, nuclear engineering and 
space research-he remained, to the 
outside world, relatively unknown, 
save as a mathematician, until 1961, 
when he became President of the Soviet 
Academy of Sciences. Although the 
Academy still elects its President by 

secret ballot, Keldysh's appointment 
was largely seen abroad as being 
associated with expansion of the Soviet 
space programme. 

As President of the Academy he 
played a major role in the expansion 
of Soviet science, and the development 
of a Union-wide network of scientific 
research establishments and centres. 
His speeches on the progress of Soviet 
science became a prominent feature of 
virtually all Party and academic 
occasions. 

Keldysh retired from the Presidency 
of the Academy in 1974, shortly before 
the belated celebrations of its 250th 
anniversary. He still continued, how­
ever, to take an active part in the 
organisation of Soviet science, serving, 
for example on the Committee for 
Lenin and State Prizes. 

For his services to Soviet science, 
Keldysh was honoured during his life­
time by the title of Hero of Socialist 
Labour (three times), Lenin and State 
prizes and numerous medals and orders 
of the Soviet Union and the countries 
of the socialist bloc. As a further and 
final tribute he was accorded a state 
funeral, his ashes being enshrined In 

the Kremlin wall. 
Vera Rich 

C. 0. Hebb 
DR CATHERINE OLDING HEBB, formerly 
Deputy Chief Scientific Officer, A.R.C. 
Institute of Animal Physiology, Habra­
ham, Cambridge, died at Cambridge 
on 26 August 1978, aged 67. 

Catherine Hebb was born in Nova 
Scotia and educated at Dalhousie Uni­
versity, Halifax, Nova Scotia, and at 
McGill University, Montreal. Here in 
1937 she gained her Ph.D. and carried 
out her first research, on the secre­
tory activity of the digestive glands, 
under Professor B. P. Babkin. 

In 1938, Dr Hebb came to Edinburgh 
University as a Junior Beit Memorial 
Fellow, in the Department of Physi­
ology, under the late Professor I. de 
Burgh Daly_ For the next fourteen 
years, in collaboration with Daly and 
other members of his very active de­
partment, Catherine Hebb produced a 
series of papers on the control of the 
blood supply to the lungs by neural and 
chemical processes. During the Second 
World War, she and Daly undertook 
research in the department at Edin­
burgh on behalf of the Air Ministry 
and the Ministry of Supply. Through­
out this period, until 1952, Dr Hebb 
was giving lectures to undergraduates 

Nature Vol. 275 19 October 1978 

in the physiology department, including 
some to the students of the refugee 
Polish Medical Faculty in Edinburgh. 

When Dr Daly was appointed first 
Director of the Agricultural Research 
Council Institute of Animal Physiology 
at Babraham, Cambridge, he invited 
Catherine Hebb to join his staff. Dr 
Hebb's work on the lung vasculature, 
together with a year's work with Pro­
fessor W. Feldberg in Cambridge, 
during the tenure of a Senior Beit 
Fellowship, led her to an interest 1n 
the autonomic system and neurotrans­
mitters, and it was in this field that her 
most important scientific contribution 
was made. She established at Babraham 
a first-rate neurochemical laboratory, 
and in 1965 became the head of the 
Institute's physiology department. 

Chemical transmission from nerve­
ending to effector organ had been 
familiar to physiologists for decades, 
but neuron-to-neuron transmission, in 
ganglia and in the central nervous 
system itself, was a newer, promising 
and technically difficult field when Dr 
Hebb began work in it. Her studies 
on the mechanism of the synthesis of 
acetylcholine, and of the distribution of 
the enzymes concerned in its meta­
bolism, combined the techniques of bio­
chemistry, histochemistry and classical 
pharmacology. However, among all this 
fine detail she never lost sight of the 
physiological functioning of the whole 
animal, and for this reason among 
others, she was able to write excellent 
review articles, putting her own dis­
coveries and those of others in their 
proper context. The Physiological 
Society monograph on the vasculature 
of the lung which she wrote in col­
laboration with I. de Burgh Daly in 
1966 is still a standard work. 

Dr Hebb was notable for the sym­
pathetic encouragement which she gave 
to younger workers in the field of 
neurochemistry, including a number 
from Poland, Yugoslavia, Czecho­
slovakia, Hungary and South American 
countries. She helped to bring such 
workers to Babraham for periods of re­
search and study, thereby disseminating 
enthusiasm for the subject and also a 
wish to emulate her own high standards 
of work. 

Dr Hebb had already been battling 
against ill-health for some ten years 
when she retired from Babraham in 
1976. Her concern for others was typi­
fied by her request that the collection 
made to mark her retirement should be 
used to establish a loan fund to help 
staff, visiting scientists or students at 
Babraham in financial need. Contribu­
tions to this Catherine Hebb Loan 
Fund have flowed in from every 
continent~an indication of the width 
of the affection for Catherine Hebb 
and admiration for her work. 

M. W. Stanier 
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